

# NATIONAL STUDENT AID PROFILE: OVERVIEW OF 2017 FEDERAL PROGRAMS





### Table of Contents

Overview	
The Federal Pell Grant Program	4
Campus-Based Aid Programs	6
The Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant Program	6
The Federal Work-Study Program	8
The Federal Perkins Loan Program	
The Federal Family Education Loan Program and William D. Ford Direct Student Loan Program	
Federal Need Analysis	
Introduced Legislation in Congress on Student Aid Topics in 2016	
Fiscal Year 2017 Budget and Appropriations Update	
Conclusion	

#### Tables

Table 1. Summary Descriptions of the Major Federal Student Aid Programs	2
Table 2. Number and Distribution of Pell Grant Recipients by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015	4
Table 3a. Number of Dependent Undergraduates Who Received Federal Supplemental Educational	
Opportunity Grants by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015	6
Table 3b. Number of Independent Undergraduates Who Received Federal Supplemental Educational	
Opportunity Grants by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015	6
Table 4a. Number of Dependent Undergraduates Who Received Federal Work-Study Awards by Family   Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015	8
Table 4b. Number of Independent Undergraduates Who Received Federal Work-Study Awards   by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015	8
Table 5a. Number of Dependent Undergraduates Who Received Perkins Loans by Family Income Level,   Award Year 2014-2015	10
Table 5b. Number of Independent Undergraduates Who Received Perkins Loans by Family Income Level,   Award Year 2014-2015	11
Table 6. Undergraduates Who Received Federal Subsidized Direct Loans by Family Income Level, Award Year   2011-2012	15
Table 7. Undergraduates Who Received Federal Unsubsidized Direct Loans by Family Income Level, Award Year   2011-2012	16
Table 8. Undergraduates Whose Parents Received Federal PLUS Loans by Family Income Level, Award Year   2011-2012	16
Table 9. Graduate/Professional Students Who Received Federal PLUS Loans by Income Level, Award Year   2011-2012	16
Figures	
Figure 1. Distribution of Federal Pell Grant Recipients by Type of Institution, Award Year 2014-2015 Figure 2. Federal Pell Grant Program Volume in Current and Inflation-Adjusted Dollars (in Millions),	
2005-2006 to 2015-2016	
Figure 3. Maximum Pell Grant Award in Current and Inflation-Adjusted Dollars, 2006-2007 to 2016-2017	
Figure 4. Distribution of FSEOG Recipients by Type of Institution, Award Year 2014-2015	7
Figure 5. FSEOG Program Volume in Current and Inflation Adjusted Dollars (in Millions), 2005-2006 to 2015-2016	7
Figure 6. Distribution of FWS Recipients by Type of Institution, Award Year 2014-2015	
Figure 7. FWS Program Volume in Current and Inflation-Adjusted Dollars (in Millions),	
2005-2006 to 2015-2016	9
Figure 8. Distribution of Perkins Loan Recipients by Type of Institution, Award Year 2014-2015	
Girren Q. Enderal Darking Loan Program Volume in Current and Inflation Adjusted Dollars	

Figure 9. Federal Perkins Loan Program volume in Current and Inflation-Adjusted Dollars	
(in Millions), 2005-2006 to 2015-2016	12
Figure 10. Federal Student Loan Volume (Inflation-Adjusted Dollars, in Millions), 2005-2006 to 2015-2016	
Figure 11. Bills Introduced in 2016	
0	-

#### Overview

Dear Reader:

NASFAA's National Profile serves as a helpful resource document on the basics of the federal student financial aid programs that provide funding to millions of students each year. This information is more important than ever, as data from the U.S. Department of Education (ED) show that the number of students applying for federal financial assistance rose from around 14 million in 2006-2007 to over 19.8 million in the 2015-2016 award year, a 29 percent increase over nine years. The upcoming reauthorization of the Higher Education Act (HEA) also heightens the interest in the federal student aid programs, with many examining the current programs and discussing proposals to make them more effective.

In this profile, you will find an overview of the following programs:

- The Federal Pell Grant Program.
- The Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant (FSEOG) Program.
- The Federal Work-Study Program.
- The Federal Perkins Loan Program.
- The Federal Direct Subsidized and Unsubsidized Loan Programs.
- The Direct PLUS Loan Program.

For each program, in addition to a basic description, you will find the most up-to-date data and information on the following:

- Number of Recipients.
- Total Volume of Awards.
- Federal Funding Levels.
- Distribution by Family Income.

In addition, we provide an appropriations update on Title IV program funding for the 2017-2018 award year.

It is our hope that you find this information to be a helpful desk reference of the federal student aid programs. As always, if you have any questions or would like more information, please feel free to reach out to NASFAA at <u>policy@nasfaa.org</u> or 202.785.0453.

Sincerely,

The NASFAA Policy & Federal Relations Team

Program Name	Program Description	Number of Recipients and Average Awards	Volume 2015-2016
Federal Pell Grant	Provides grants to low-income undergraduates who have not yet earned a first bachelor's degree with the greatest demonstrated financial need. The 2016-2017 maximum award was \$5,815; the minimum award was \$589. For 2017-2018, the maximum award is \$5,920 and the statutory minimum is \$592, but because midpoints are used for both the estimated family contribution (EFC) columns and the cost of attendance (COA) rows in constructing the schedules, the actual 2017-2018 Award Year minimum award amount for a full-time student is \$596.	Approximately 8.3 million recipients in 2014-2015. Average award was \$3,689. Just under 72 percent of recipients had family incomes of less than \$30,000.	The total volume for Pell Grants was \$28.2 billion.
Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant (FSEOG)	Provides grants to low-income undergraduates with the greatest demonstrated financial need. Maximum award is \$4,000; minimum award is \$100. Priority must be given to students who receive Federal Pell Grants, and awards must be made first to students who have the lowest expected family contributions. At least 25 percent of FSEOG awards must come from institutional resources.	Approximately 1.6 million recipients in 2014-2015. Average award was \$607. Just under 71 percent of dependent recipients came from families with an income of less than \$30,000.	The total volume was \$1 billion.
Federal Work-Study (FWS)	Provides part-time jobs to financially needy undergraduate and graduate/professional students. Jobs must, to the best extent possible, be related to students' academic or career goals. Institutions must generally contribute at least 25 percent of wages paid.	Approximately 651,000 recipients in 2014- 2015. The average award was \$1,689. Of dependent undergraduate recipients, 45 percent had family incomes below \$42,000.	The total volume was \$1.1 billion.
Federal Perkins Loan	Distributes low-interest loans (5 percent) to undergraduate and graduate/professional students with financial need; priority is given to those with exceptional need. Borrowing is subject to annual and aggregate loan limits. Borrowers usually repay the loans directly to their postsecondary institutions; repayments are used to make new loans. Institutions match at least 33 percent of their federal program allocations. Loan repayments may be cancelled for borrowers who perform certain volunteer, military, health care, or other services.	Approximately 528,000 recipients in 2014- 2015. Average award was \$2,198. Thirty-two percent of dependent recipients had family incomes of less than \$30,000, and 72 percent of independent recipients had an income of less than \$20,000.	New loans were made for a total of \$1.2 billion from institutions' revolving funds.

#### Table 1. Summary Descriptions of the Major Federal Student Aid Programs

Program Name	Program Description	Number of Recipients and Average Awards	Volume 2015-2016
Direct Subsidized Loan	Provides low-interest loans to financially needy undergraduate students. Interest on the loans is paid by the government while borrowers are in school, in the grace period, and during deferment. Borrowing is subject to annual and aggregate loan limits. Borrowers begin repaying loans six months after ceasing at least half-time enrollment in postsecondary education, unless borrower qualifies for deferment. Cancellation of loans is available for employment in certain designated fields, under certain conditions.	Approximately 6.1 million borrowers in 2015-2016. Average loan of \$3,748.	The total loan volume was \$23 billion.
Direct Unsubsidized Loan	Provides low-interest loans to undergraduate and graduate/professional students. Loans are provided regardless of borrowers' income or financial need, as long as total aid does not exceed cost of attendance. Recipients are charged interest on the loans at all times. Borrowing is subject to annual and aggregate loan limits; limits are higher for independent students. Unless borrowers qualify for deferment, loan repayment begins six months after they cease at least half-time enrollment in postsecondary education. Cancellation of loans is available for employment in certain designated fields, under certain conditions.	Approximately 7.3 million borrowers in 2015-2016. Average loan of \$4,125 for undergraduate students and \$17,643 for graduate students.	The total loan volume was \$50.8 billion.
Direct PLUS Loan	Provides loans to (1) the parents of dependent undergraduates, as defined by HEA, and (2) graduate and professional students. Borrowers may obtain loans up to the full amount of the cost of education, minus any aid students receive from other sources. Loans are provided regardless of income, but borrowers must pass a credit check or obtain an endorser.	Approximately 785,000 parent borrowers in 2015-2016. Average loan of \$14,752. In the same award year, an estimated 378,000 graduate/professional students borrowed an average of \$21,886 in Grad PLUS loans.	PLUS borrowers (parents and graduate/ professional students) received \$20.9 billion.

#### Table 1. Summary Descriptions of the Major Federal Student Aid Programs (continued)

#### The Federal Pell Grant Program

**Program Description.** The Federal Pell Grant Program is the "foundational" federal student aid program. The program provides grants to financially needy undergraduate students who have not yet earned their first bachelor's degree to help pay the costs of attending postsecondary institutions. (In very limited circumstances, post-baccalaureate students in teacher education programs may also qualify for Pell Grants.) Schools must determine a student's Federal Pell Grant eligibility before calculating eligibility for other federal student aid programs. During the annual Congressional appropriations process, the minimum and maximum Pell Grant award levels are established for the upcoming award year. In award year 2016-2017, grants ranged between \$589 and \$5,815. In award year 2017-2018, grants range from \$596 to \$5,920. The amounts students receive are based on their educational costs and the family's ability to contribute to college costs.

#### Figure 1. Distribution of Pell Grant Recipients by Type of Institution, Award Year 2014-2015



Source: U.S. Department of Education, Federal Pell Grant Program End-of-year Report, 2014-2015.

# Table 2. Number and Distribution of Pell Grant Recipients by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015

Family Income Level	Number	Percentage
\$6,000 or less	1,935,755	23.3%
\$6,001 to \$15,000	1,730,923	20.8%
\$15,001 to \$20,000	943,044	11.3%
\$20,001 to \$30,000	1,355,094	16.3%
\$30,001 to \$40,000	927,989	11.2%
\$40,001 and over	1,422,728	17.1%
Total	8,315,533	100%

Source: U.S. Department of Education, Federal Pell Grant Program End-of-year Report, 2014-2015.

Figure 2: Federal Pell Grant Volume in Current and Inflation-Adjusted Dollars (in Millions), 2005-2006 to 2015-2016



Source: The College Board, Trends in Student Aid, 2016.

*Figure 3: Maximum Pell Grant Award in Current and Inflation-Adjusted Dollars, 2006-2007 to 2016-2017* 



Source: U.S. Department of Education, Federal Pell Grant Program End-of-year Report, 2014-2015; College Board, Trends in Student Aid, 2016. Inflation-adjusted to 2016 dollars calculated by NASFAA, using the Consumer Price Index (CPI-U) for the July beginning the academic year.

### **Campus-Based Aid Programs**

ED requires schools to contribute a portion of the funding for campus-based aid programs, but financial aid administrators at each participating postsecondary institution must use federal program guidelines to determine which students will receive awards and how much they will receive. These programs include: the Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant Program, the Federal Work-Study Program, and the Federal Perkins Loan Program.

### The Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant Program

**Program Description.** The Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant (FSEOG) Program provides grants to financially needy undergraduates at postsecondary institutions. Financial assistance from the FSEOG Program generally supplements the aid students receive from other sources. Students must have "exceptional" financial need to receive FSEOG awards. Schools must give priority to students who receive Federal Pell Grants, and awards must first be made to students with the lowest expected family contributions (EFC) - that is, starting with a zero EFC and then moving upward. The minimum FSEOG award is \$100, and the maximum is \$4,000. Institutions that participate in the program receive federal allocations to distribute awards. These institutions must match their federal allocations with funds from their own resources, so that no more than 75 percent of FSEOG awards represent the federal share.

Family Income Level	Recipients	Recipients Percentage	Total FSEOG Dollars*	Dollars Percentage	Average FSEOG Award
Less than \$6,000	126,122	17.3%	\$87,614,952	16.0%	\$695
\$6,000 to \$11,999	76,229	10.4%	\$54,681,100	10.0%	\$717
\$12,000 to \$23,999	224,646	30.8%	\$163,991,504	29.9%	\$730
\$24,000 to \$29,999	88,484	12.1%	\$68,539,788	12.5%	\$775
\$30,000 to \$41,999	109,090	15.0%	\$86,188,762	15.7%	\$790
\$42,000 to \$59,999	74,971	10.3%	\$62,646,340	11.4%	\$836
\$60,000 and over	29,983	4.1%	\$24,825,110	4.5%	\$828
Total*	729,525	100.0%	\$548,487,556	100.0%	\$752

### Table 3a. Number of Dependent Undergraduates Who Received Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015

# Table 3b. Number of Independent Undergraduates Who Received Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015

Family Income Level	Recipients	Recipients Percentage	Total FSEOG Dollars*	Dollars Percentage	Average FSEOG Award
Less than \$2,000	208,548	25.5%	\$98,788,283	26.2%	\$474
\$2,000 to \$3,999	52,878	6.5%	\$26,811,134	7.1%	\$507
\$4,000 to \$7,999	110,546	13.5%	\$53,905,406	14.3%	\$488
\$8,000 to \$11,999	108,361	13.3%	\$50,027,128	13.3%	\$462
\$12,000 to \$15,999	77,077	9.4%	\$33,289,601	8.8%	\$432
\$16,000 to \$19,999	64,935	7.9%	\$27,845,029	7.4%	\$429
\$20,000 and over	195,138	23.9%	\$86,091,755	22.9%	\$441
Total*	817,483	100.0%	\$376,758,336	100.0%	\$461

\* Total dollar amounts include federal funds and institutional matching funds.

Source for Tables 3a and 3b: U.S. Department of Education, Federal Campus-Based Programs Data Book, 2016.

Figure 4. Distribution of FSEOG Recipients by Type of Institution, Award Year 2014-2015









\*\* Total dollar amounts include federal funds and institutional matching funds. Source: U.S. Department of Education, Federal Campus-Based Programs Data Book, 2016; 2015-2016 estimated by NASFAA

#### The Federal Work-Study Program

**Program Description.** The Federal Work-Study (FWS) Program provides part-time jobs to undergraduate, graduate, and professional students at postsecondary institutions. Generally, aid from the FWS Program supplements the assistance students receive from Federal Pell Grants and other sources. The FWS Program is a need-based program; that is, recipients must have demonstrated financial need.

Award amounts must be based on demonstrated financial need, the number of hours students are expected to work each week, and the anticipated hourly wage.

For most FWS jobs, the federal program funds are used to pay 75 percent of the students' wages. The remaining 25 percent is provided by the institution or the students' employers. (Private for-profit businesses that employ FWS recipients must pay at least 50 percent of students' wages from their own resources.) A lower non-federal share is permitted under specific limited conditions.

# Table 4a. Number of Dependent Undergraduates Who Received Federal Work-Study Awards by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015

Family Income Level	Recipients	Recipients Percentage	Total FWS Dollars*	Dollars Percentage	Average FWS Award
Less than \$6,000	37,386	7.5%	\$61,757,982	7.9%	\$1,652
\$6,000 to \$11,999	23,050	4.6%	\$38,945,348	5.0%	\$1,690
\$12,000 to \$23,999	69,529	13.9%	\$118,271,214	15.1%	\$1,701
\$24,000 to \$29,999	32,990	6.6%	\$54,833,625	7.0%	\$1,662
\$30,000 to \$41,999	63,271	12.6%	\$104,106,469	13.3%	\$1,645
\$42,000 to \$59,999	77,434	15.4%	\$123,425,529	15.8%	\$1,594
\$60,000 and over	197,727	39.4%	\$279,459,458	35.8%	\$1,413
Total*	501,387	100.0%	\$780,799,625	100.0%	\$1,557

# Table 4b. Number of Independent Undergraduates Who Received Federal Work-Study Awards by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015

Family Income Level	Recipients	Recipients Percentage	Total FWS Dollars*	Dollars Percentage	Average FWS Award
Less than \$2,000	31,017	29.6%	\$59,614,034	28.7%	\$1,922
\$2,000 to \$3,999	10,355	9.9%	\$19,934,895	9.6%	\$1,925
\$4,000 to \$7,999	17,861	17.0%	\$36,965,282	17.8%	\$2,070
\$8,000 to \$11,999	13,680	13.0%	\$28,440,149	13.7%	\$2,079
\$12,000 to \$15,999	8,967	8.5%	\$18,122,126	8.7%	\$2,021
\$16,000 to \$19,999	5,835	5.6%	\$11,600,827	5.6%	\$1,988
\$20,000 and over	17,239	16.4%	\$32,971,147	15.9%	\$1,913
Total*	104,954	100.0%	\$207,648,460	100.0%	\$1,978

\* Total dollar amounts include federal funds and institutional matching funds.

Source for Tables 4a and 4b: U.S. Department of Education, Federal Campus-Based Programs Data Book, 2016.

Figure 6. Distribution of FWS Recipients by Type of Institution, Award Year 2014-2015



Source: U.S. Department of Education, Federal Campus-Based Programs Data Book, 2016.





Source: The College Board, Trends in Student Aid, 2016.

#### The Federal Perkins Loan Program

**Program Description.** The Federal Perkins Loan Program provides low-interest loans to financially needy undergraduate, graduate, and professional students. Unlike Federal Pell Grants, FSEOG, and FWS awards, students must repay Federal Perkins Loans after they graduate, leave, or fall below half-time attendance status at their postsecondary institutions (attendance status is determined at each institution). Loan repayments are usually made directly to the borrower's school. Interest on the loan accrues at a rate of 5 percent per year. However, interest does not begin to accrue until borrowers enter repayment, which may be deferred for approved reasons.

The maximum amount students may borrow is based on their academic grade level:

- Undergraduate students may borrow up to \$5,500 annually
- Graduate and professional students may borrow up to \$8,000 annually.

Authorization for the Federal Perkins Loan Program expired on September 30, 2015; however, the Federal Perkins Loan Program Extension Act of 2015, effective December 18, 2015, extends the Federal Perkins Loan Program through September 30, 2017 for new and current undergraduate Federal Perkins Loan borrowers. As part of the extension, graduate and professional student eligibility expired on September 30, 2016.

The Extension Act prohibits additional extensions of the Federal Perkins Loan Program, and President Donald Trump did not propose an extension in his fiscal year 2018 budget.

### Table 5a. Number of Dependent Undergraduates Who Received Perkins Loans by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015

Family Income Level	Recipients	Recipients Percentage	Total Perkins Dollars*	Dollars Percentage	Average Perkins Award
Less than \$6,000	23,782	6.8%	\$47,334,819	6.7%	\$1,990
\$6,000 to \$11,999	16,042	4.6%	\$31,812,175	4.5%	\$1,983
\$12,000 to \$23,999	49,071	14.0%	\$96,992,334	13.8%	\$1,977
\$24,000 to \$29,999	24,638	7.0%	\$48,549,042	6.9%	\$1,970
\$30,000 to \$41,999	50,057	14.3%	\$97,790,798	13.9%	\$1,954
\$42,000 to \$59,999	62,874	17.9%	\$124,635,544	17.7%	\$1,982
\$60,000 and over	124,252	35.4%	\$255,068,344	36.3%	\$2,053
Total*	350,716	100.0%	\$702,183,056	100.0%	\$2,002

\* Total dollar amounts include federal funds and institutional matching funds.

Source: U.S. Department of Education, Federal Campus-Based Programs Data Book, 2016.

# Table 5b. Number of Independent Undergraduates Who Received Perkins Loans by Family Income Level, Award Year 2014-2015

Family Income Level	Recipients	Recipients Percentage	Total Perkins Dollars*	Dollars Percentage	Average Perkins Award
Less than \$2,000	23,731	22.9%	\$45,247,937	23.2%	\$1,907
\$2,000 to \$3,999	7,196	6.9%	\$14,078,746	7.2%	\$1,956
\$4,000 to \$7,999	13,839	13.3%	\$26,793,511	13.7%	\$1,936
\$8,000 to \$11,999	12,556	12.1%	\$23,530,103	12.1%	\$1,874
\$12,000 to \$15,999	9,763	9.4%	\$17,848,861	9.2%	\$1,828
\$16,000 to \$19,999	7,653	7.4%	\$13,798,812	7.1%	\$1,803
\$20,000 and over	29,117	28.0%	\$53,579,111	27.5%	\$1,840
Total*	103,855	100.0%	\$194,877,081	100.0%	\$1,876

\* Total dollar amounts include federal funds and institutional matching funds.

Source: U.S. Department of Education, Federal Campus-Based Programs Data Book, 2016.

#### Figure 8. Distribution of Perkins Loan Recipients by Type of Institution, Award Year 2014-2015



Source: U.S. Department of Education, Federal Campus-Based Programs Data Book, 2016.

*Figure 9. Federal Perkins Loan Program Volume in Current and Inflation-Adjusted Dollars (in Millions), 2005-2006 to 2015-2016* 



Source: The College Board, Trends in Student Aid, 2016.

### The Federal Family Education Loan Program and the William D. Ford Direct Student Loan Program

**Program Description.** Before July 1, 2010, Title IV of the HEA authorized two programs for distributing loans to students and parents of dependent undergraduate students. While the terms of the loans ran parallel between the two programs, the difference was the source of funding. The Federal Family Education Loan (FFEL) Program, formerly known as the Guaranteed Student Loan Program, utilized private and nonprofit sector funding under a system of federal guarantees and support. The FFEL Program ceased operations in July 2010 (other than the collection and servicing of outstanding loans) in favor of maintaining just one loan program, the William D. Ford Direct Student Loan Program, which is federally funded and administered by ED. The Direct Loan Program continues to provide low-interest loans to undergraduate and graduate/professional students and parents of dependent undergraduate students to help pay the costs of attending postsecondary institutions. Loans are "entitlements," which means that all eligible and qualified borrowers may receive the program funds and benefits, but borrowers are subject to annual and aggregate limits.

The Direct Loan Program is an umbrella for four loans made for undergraduate and graduate study (as was the FFEL Program):

- Direct Subsidized Loans (also referred to as Subsidized Stafford Loans)
- Direct Unsubsidized Loans (also referred to as Unsubsidized Stafford Loans)
- PLUS Loans, which are made to parents of dependent students and to graduate and professional students
- Consolidation Loans, a repayment option rather than a loan made for attendance at an institution

Borrowers of Direct Loans pay an origination fee on every new loan disbursed. Established in statute, for subsidized and unsubsidized loans, the origination fee is 1 percent, and for PLUS loans the fee is 4 percent. Under sequestration imposed in the Budget Control Act of 2011, origination fees are increased annually based on the mandatory adjustment percentage provided by the Office of Management and Budget.

	Loans first disbursed on or after		
	Oct. 1, 2016, to Sept. 30, 2017	July 1, 2017, to July 1, 2018	
Subsidized and Unsubsidized Direct Loans	1.069	1.066	
PLUS Loans	4.276	4.264	

Interest rate structures have varied greatly over the years – sometimes being variable with a maximum cap, sometimes fixed. As written in the Bipartisan Student Loan Certainty Act of 2013, all Direct Loans, except for Direct Consolidation Loans, with a first disbursement date on or after July 1, 2013, have variable fixed, market-based interest rates. Interest rates for new Direct Loans will change every July 1 based on market rates and then remain fixed for the life of that loan. All interest rates will apply to loans disbursed on or after July 1 of a year to June 30 of the following year only. This law will also provide protection to consumers from market spikes by placing rate caps of:

- 8.25 percent on Direct Subsidized Loans and Direct Unsubsidized Loans for undergraduate students,
- 9.5 percent for Direct Unsubsidized Loans for graduate/professional students, and
- 10.5 percent for Parent/Graduate PLUS Loans.

ED calculates the interest rates for these loans using a base 10-year Treasury Note Index plus an add-on amount for each loan program. The following chart outlines the interest rates for the last three award years:

	Treasury Note Index	Iry Note Index Add-On Amount		
Federal Direct Subsidized	d and Unsubsidized Loans: Undergro	aduate Students		
2015-2016	2.237	2.05	4.29	
2016-2017	1.71	2.05	3.76	
2017-2018	2.40	2.05	4.45	
Federal Direct Unsubsidized Loans: Graduate Students				
2015-2016	2.237	3.6	5.84	
2016-2017	1.71	3.6	5.31	
2017-2018	2.40	3.6	6.00	
Federal Direct PLUS Loans: Parents and Graduate/Professional Students				
2015-2016	2.237	4.6	6.84	
2016-2017	1.71	4.6	6.31	
2017-2018	2.40	4.6	7.00	

**Subsidized Loans:** Direct Subsidized Loans are provided to undergraduate students based on their demonstrated financial need. Annual and aggregate limits apply to award amounts. Students do not have to pay the accrued interest on subsidized loans while they are enrolled at their institutions at least half-time. Interest on the loans begins to accrue as soon as borrowers receive the funds. However, a portion of the federal appropriation for subsidized loans is used to pay the accrued interest on the borrowers' behalf. This provision in the subsidized loan program is commonly referred to as the "in-school interest subsidy" and was also available to needy graduate students prior to July 1, 2012.

Repayment begins following a six-month "grace period" after the student is no longer enrolled at least half-time. The interest subsidy extends through the grace period. However, that provision was temporarily suspended for new loans for which the first disbursement was made on or after July 1, 2012, and before July 1, 2014. Borrowers are responsible for paying accruing interest once they enter the repayment period, beginning at the end of the grace period, except during authorized periods of deferment.

**Unsubsidized Loans:** The second type of Direct student loan, the unsubsidized loan, works similarly to subsidized loans, but borrowers are responsible for all interest that accrues. Eligibility for unsubsidized loans is not based on students' financial need. That is, students may receive these loans regardless of their incomes or assets, and may use them to replace the expected family contribution. Annual and aggregate limits apply to award amounts.

Students who receive unsubsidized loans do not have an in-school interest subsidy. These borrowers are charged the accrued interest on these loans while they are enrolled. Accrued interest may be paid during periods of enrollment, or may be capitalized (added to the principal balance of the loans). Interest on these loans must also be paid or capitalized during any deferment periods.

**Loan Limits.** The amount a student may borrow in subsidized funds is the result of subtracting other aid and the EFC from the cost of attendance (COA), or the applicable annual loan limit, whichever is less. The annual maximum amount of loans students may borrow varies by academic grade level. As of July 1, 2007, the annual loan limits are as follows:

	Dependent Students	Independent Students (and students whose parents cannot obtain a PLUS lo	
First Year Undergraduate	\$5,500	\$9,500	
Students	No more than \$3,500 can be subsidized.	No more than \$3,500 can be subsidized.	
Second Year	\$6,500	\$10,500	
Undergraduate Students	No more than \$4,500 can be subsidized.	No more than \$4,500 can be subsidized.	
Third Year and Beyond	\$7,500	\$12,500	
Undergraduate Students	No more than \$5,500 can be subsidized.	No more than \$5,500 can be subsidized.	
Graduate/Professional	21/2	\$20,500	
Students	N/A	As of July 1, 2012, unsubsidized funds only.	

As of July 1, 2007, the aggregate loan limits are as follows:

Dependent Students		Independent Students (and students whose parents cannot obtain a PLUS loan	
Undergraduate Students	\$31,000 No more than \$23,000 can be subsidized.	\$57,500 No more than \$23,000 can be subsidized.	
Graduate Students	N/A	\$138,500 No more than \$65,500 can be subsidized. Undergraduate borrowing counts toward graduate aggregate limit.	

**PLUS:** The PLUS Loan Program provides loans to the parents of dependent undergraduates and to students who are in graduate or professional programs (who are, by federal definition, independent of their parents). Parents must use the loan funds to pay their children's higher education costs. To qualify for a PLUS Loan, borrowers may not have an adverse credit history (credit history is not considered for subsidized and unsubsidized loans). Borrowers with adverse credit histories can obtain a loan if they provide an endorser or appeal the credit decision with ED.

PLUS Loans are limited to the difference between the student's COA and other anticipated financial aid; there are no absolute annual or aggregate limits.

#### Table 6. Undergraduates Who Received Federal Subsidized Direct Loans by Family Income Level, Award Year 2011-2012

Adjusted Gross Income (AGI)	<b>Recipients (Estimated)</b>	Percent Average Aw	
Less than \$20,000	2,919,603	35.3%	\$3,333
\$20,000 to \$39,999	1,900,367	23.0%	\$3,498
\$40,000 to \$59,999	964,669	11.7%	\$3,621
\$60,000 to \$79,999	739,863	8.9%	\$3,649
\$80,000 to \$99,999	599,997	7.2%	\$3,621
\$100,000 and over	1,152,390	13.9%	\$3,516
Total	8,276,889	100.0%	\$3,468

# Table 7. Undergraduates Who Received Federal Unsubsidized Direct Loans by Family Income Level, Award Year 2011-2012

Adjusted Gross Income (AGI)	<b>Recipients (Estimated)</b>	Percent	Average Award
Less than \$20,000	2,830,145	36.6%	\$4,025
\$20,000 to \$39,999	1,566,876	20.3%	\$3,793
\$40,000 to \$59,999	886,743	11.5%	\$3,504
\$60,000 to \$79,999	748,107	9.7%	\$3,345
\$80,000 to \$99,999	593,312	7.7%	\$3,738
\$100,000 and over	1,104,240	14.3%	\$4,665
Total	7,723,559	100.1%	\$3,922

# Table 8. Undergraduates Whose Parents Received Federal PLUS Loans by Family Income Level, Award Year 2011-2012

Adjusted Gross Income (AGI)	<b>Recipients (Estimated)</b>	Percent	Average Award
Less than \$20,000	113,856	11.0%	\$8,129
\$20,000 to \$39,999	137,631	13.3%	\$8,968
\$40,000 to \$59,999	142,416	13.7%	\$11,011
\$60,000 to \$79,999	154,568	14.9%	\$11,650
\$80,000 to \$99,999	150,417	14.5%	\$12,219
\$100,000 and over	340,260	32.8%	\$15,279
Total	1,037,493	100.2%	\$12,089

# Table 9. Graduate/Professional Students Who Received Federal PLUS Loans by Family Income Level, Award Year 2011-2012

Adjusted Gross Income (AGI)	<b>Recipients (Estimated)</b>	Percent	Average Award
Less than \$20,000	229,286	62.9%	\$19,267
\$20,000 to \$39,999	62,381	17.1%	\$18,674
\$40,000 to \$59,999	35,671	9.8%	\$14,983
\$60,000 to \$79,999	15,026	4.1%	\$16,199
\$80,000 to \$99,999	9,067	2.5%	\$17,813
\$100,000 and over	12,116	3.3%	\$18,449
Total	364,538	99.7%	\$18,554

Source for Tables 6-9: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011-2012 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:12).

Figure 10. Federal Student Loan Volume (Inflation-Adjusted Dollars, in Millions), 2005-2006 to 2015-2016



Source: The College Board, Trends in Student Aid, 2016.

#### Federal Need Analysis

**Description:** The application for all Title IV programs is the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA), which collects demographic, income, and asset information from aid applicants and their families. ED uses this information to confirm students' general eligibility to receive Title IV funds and calculates an index, called the Expected Family Contribution (EFC), that schools use as one of several factors to determine the amount of financial aid a student may receive during a given award year.

The EFC is determined by a need analysis formula established under Title IV of the Higher Education Act (HEA); the formula is called the Federal Methodology (FM). Parents of dependent students are expected to provide financial information on the FAFSA and to contribute some amount, if they are able, to the financing of their child's education.

In September 2015, President Obama and then Secretary of Education Arne Duncan announced their intention to use their existing authority in HEA [Sec. 480(a)(B)(1)] to adjust the year of income tax data used to determine federal aid eligibility, a move supported by NASFAA and other higher education advocates. Before, the FM calculated a student's financial need using prior year income data. On October 1, 2016, FM began using income data from the prior-prior year ("PPY") and the FAFSA release date moved up from January 1 to October 1.

**Use:** Financial aid administrators use the EFC and other information to determine which students will receive federal student aid authorized under Title IV of the HEA and the amounts they will receive from these programs. Students are eligible to receive need-based federal student aid (Federal Pell Grant, FWS, FSEOG, Federal Perkins Loans, and Direct Subsidized Loans) only if the sum of the EFC and other estimated financial assistance is less than the total cost of attendance (COA). The COA includes tuition and fees, estimated living expenses, books and educational supplies, transportation to and from the postsecondary institution, and other miscellaneous expenses.

### Introduced Legislation in Congress on Student Aid Topics in 2016

In 2016, members of both the U.S. House of Representatives and the U.S. Senate introduced a total of 107 bills and resolutions on student aid-related issues, down from 175 in 2015. When categorized by topic, Congress demonstrated a commitment to addressing student loans and repayment (22.43% of legislation introduced on student aid topics addressed loans and/or repayment) and higher education tax issues (21.5% of legislation introduced on student aid topics addressed higher education tax issues).

#### Figure 11. Bills Introduced in 2016



Source: NASFAA Legislative Tracker

#### Fiscal Year 2017 Budget and Appropriations Update

Each year, Congress must go through the process of determining funding levels for most of the federal student aid programs. Fiscal year (FY) 2017 funding, which impacts the 2017-2018 award year, was finalized by Congress and signed into law by President Trump in May 2017 in the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2017. Given the fiscal environment of austerity and sequestration<sup>1</sup>, the federal student aid programs fared relatively well in the budget process, though this is largely thanks to increased budget caps agreed to in the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015.

Funding for the Pell Grant Program comes from both discretionary and mandatory funding streams. Through the appropriations process, Congress has agreed to funding the discretionary base maximum award at the \$4,860 level since 2009-2010. The chart below shows that when combined with the mandatory annual inflation-adjusted add-on<sup>2</sup> of \$1,060, the total maximum award for the 2017-2018 award year is \$5,920, a \$105 increase over the 2016-2017 amount. Authority for the inflationary increase to the mandatory add-on expires after FY 2017, meaning the Pell Grant maximum award will remain at \$5,920 in each award year moving forward, absent congressional action.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Budget Control Act of 2011 mandated federal spending cuts through a process called sequestration to a number of federal programs, including certain Title IV aid programs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The add-on amount is based in part on the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) Unadjusted 12-month Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U).

The chart below highlights Pell Grant funding over the last three fiscal years.

Program	FY15	FY16	FY17	Change from FY16 to FY17
Pell Grant (discretionary)	\$22,475,352,000	\$22,475,352,000	\$22,475,352,000	\$0
Pell Grant maximum award	\$5,775	\$5,815	\$5,920	+\$105

The spending agreement also included the restoration of a student's ability to access an additional scheduled Pell Grant award in an award year, also called "year-round Pell" or "summer Pell." The provision permits eligible students to access up to 150 percent of the annual maximum award in an award year.

The spending package pulls a total of \$1.56 billion from the Pell Grant Program, \$1.3 billion of which comes from a rescission to the unobligated balances in the Pell Grant Program. The other \$254 million would come from a decrease to mandatory program funds for FY 2017, which were previously designated in the HEA.

In the final FY 2017 agreement, both the Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant (FSEOG) Program and the Federal Work-Study (FWS) Program received level-funding compared to FY 2015 and FY 2016. The funding for FSEOG and FWS are highlighted in the following chart.

Program	FY15	FY16	FY17	Change from FY15 to FY16
FSEOG	\$733,130,000	\$733,130,000	\$733,130,000	\$0
FWS	\$989,728,000	\$989,728,000	\$989,728,000	\$0

The higher education community continues to advocate for adequate funding of the federal student aid programs.

### Conclusion

Since enactment of the HEA in 1965, federal financial aid has been a central and critical pathway for college access. Given the importance of federal financial aid, this booklet serves as a resource describing seven prominent Title IV programs. While these financial aid programs may have changed over time, the general principles of each program have stayed the same.

NASFAA hopes the information in this booklet is helpful to you. You may find a more detailed version of this document online at www.nasfaa.org. We also have produced other publications that help students and families find ways to pay for postsecondary education. Should you need any additional information, please contact us at <u>policy@nasfaa.org</u> or 202.785.0453.



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF STUDENT FINANCIAL AID ADMINISTRATORS

1801 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE, NW, SUITE 850 WASHINGTON, DC 20006-3606 202.785.0453 FAX. 202.785.1487 WWW.NASFAA.ORG